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1. Name

historic Albany Rural Cemetery

and/or common

2. Location

street & number Cemetef‘y' ﬁvenue

— Not for publication

W (4(67\(U_ ___ vicinity of

city, town congressional district 28
state New York code 036 county Albany code g1
— = so— =
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
—— district —— public —X occupied —___agriculture —__ museum
— building(s) _x_private —__ unoccupied — commercial —_ park
— structure —_both — work in progress - educational —___ private residence
X _site Public Acquisition Accessible —_ entertainment —religious
—___ object —___ in process — X yes: restricted —_ government — scientific
—_ being considered — yes: unrestricted — industrial — transportation
. —___ military X other: Cemetery
4. Owner of Property
name Albany Rural Cemetery
street & number Cemetery Avenue
city, town Menands —_ vicinity of state. New York
S. Location of Legal Description
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Albany County Courthouse
street & number Eagle Street
city, town Albany State _New York
6. Representation in Existing Surveys
|
title has this property been determined elegible? yes v no |
date ——federal __state __county ___ local
( depository for survey records
city, town | state
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7. Description

Condition Check one Check one
— excellent _____ deteriorated X unaltered _X original site

x good ____ruins altered . ——_moved date
—x fair . ____ unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The Albany Rural Cemetery, founded in 1844 and laid out by Major D.B.
Douglass, occupies 467 acres. Located north of the city of Albany in the
city of Menands on high ground overlooking the Hudson River, the
cemetery has thirty-five miles of roadways and contains the graves of
nearly one hundred thousand people. The cemetery is divided by three
ridge areas known as the South Ridge, the Middle Ridge, and the North Ridge.

The cemetery is bounded on the southeast by St. Agnes Roman Catholic
Cemetery and is penetrated by the Jewish Beth Emmeth Cemetery on the
northwest. Both these cemeteries are on land formerly owned by Albany
Rural. They are of later date and have less significant design features

and sculpture than Albany Rural, and are therefore not part of this
nomination.

The plan of the Albany Rural Cemetery is irregular and incorporates
a labyrinth of romantically named winding roads. The main road is called-
The Tour. Other roadways are entitled Bower Hill Way, Ravine Cross Way,
Crescent Way, Summer Side Avenue, Pine Bough Avenue, Rose Leaf Way,
Wild Flower Avenue, and as well, more prosaic examples as Elmwood Avenue,
and Spruce Avenue. The cemetery with its public buildings (chapel, office,
etc.), mansions (mausoleums), middle class homes (monuments and tombstones),
and apartment houses (vaults) is a vast city of the dead. Divided into
irregnlar sections, the various sections were also named. Some examples
of the nineteenth century's romantic approach to names are: Daisy Lawn,
Lily Dale, Cypress Hill, Meadow Hill, Summit Ridge, and Sylvan Dell.
Fortunately, for sanity's sake each section is also numbered.

Two creeks flow through the cemetery in the deep ravines that
flank Middle Ridge. Originally these creeks were damned at various peoints
creating four lakes. The largest was Lake Bethesda; Tawasentha Lake,
Indian Lake, and Consecration Lake were much smaller. These bodies of water
must have created irregular vistas of great picturesque quality. The
dams were blown up because of problems with the graves along the lake
banks so this striking original visual feature is now gone. Remaining
is Cypress Water, a pear-shaped, spring-fed, artificial lake on the South
Ridge. Seven roads converge on this placid little pond making it one of
the main visual points of the cemetery today.

There are five major structures on the cemetery grounds: an office,
a superintendent's residence, a chapel, a gatehouse, and a barn complex.
The office building (photos 1 and 2) designed by Robert W. Gibson in
1882, is a handsome, polychromatic, picturesque eclectic structure of red
Potsdam sandstone and Croton brick. It is covered with a red tile roof.
I1ts massing and window treatment, especially when viewed from the south,
is suggestive of the Queen Anne style of architecture.
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On the right of The Tour just beyond the office and set well

back from the road is the superintendent's residence (photo 3). This
is a large three-bay frame structure of two and one-half stories;
handsomely detailed in the Neoclassical Revival style. Built in 1899,
it has a wide entrance porch (photo 4) supported by paired Ionic fluted
columns which carry a full entablature whose frieze is decorated with
rosettes. The cornice is enhanced with dentiling. Fluted Doric
pilasters support the portico at the wall. The whole displays a
careful adherence to the Classical vocabulary of ornamentation. The
doorway is flanked by wide diamond-paned lights and narrow-paneled
pilasters which support smallish brackets. Above and below the side-
lights are recessed panels. Above the doorway in a recessed panel appears
the date 1899 in Roman numerals. A most visually striking feature of
this rural house is the fenestration. Above a recessed panel is a very
classical window with enframements which echo those of the doorway and
thich are crowned by a robust, deep pediment. Above this pediment,
arrow pilasters support the base of the second-story window which has
a shouldered avchitrave both at lintel and sill. A recessed panel
decorated with a swag in the finest Neoclassical mode occupies the space
between the top of the window and the heavy, flat cornice. In the
attic above this elaborate window treatment is a rectangular attic
window framed in the Italianate style. Wide brackets support the hip
roof. The architect is unknown.

Oon the same side of The Tour only a short distance away but near
the road is the chapel (photo 6) designed by English architect Robert
Gibson in 1884 and built of the same materials as the office. This
stylish building in Romanesque Revival style has a drive-through portico
for carriages. The steeply pitched roof is covered with red tile. The
T-shaped structures have a stained glass rose window in each gable.
They are very fine gquality and typical of the work of the Tiffany
Studios. Their maker is unknown. The interior walls are of glazed
brick: brown, grey, and a brilliant blue creating a banding up to about
five feet. Glazed brick of this type was common in England at the period
but is rare in this country: A round band above this glazed brick is
decorated with beasts and plant forms entwined in Celtic fashion. This
building was altered in 1978 to become a crematorium. The gable ends
have had doorways cut through and two wings have been erected which are
separated from the chapel by glass hyphens. One houses a waiting room
and the other holds retorts. These wings are finished in sandstone
which blends with the main strueture. Visually, they do detract, however,
£for Gibson's little chapel was best viewed from an angle. Now the

+.ble ends are obscured by the new wings.
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Mount Auburn Avenue in section 29 (photo 17). They represent a variety
of revival styles but the most common are Greek and Romanesque.

Another type of tomb is the vault that is built partially into
the hillside. Numerous examples can be found throughout the cemetery,
the largest of which are the cemetery's receiving vaults (photo 18)
located on The Tour slightly north of the chapel. These vaults are
monolithic in their impact. Of cut stone, they have sloping slides
marked by heavy guoins and massive cornices. They were used for the
placement of bodies during bad weather.

The Burden family vault of 1850 (photo 19) is an elaborate
Neoclassical tomb with fluted Doric columns which support a complete
entablature and wide cornice. Two large-jowled dogs sit atop the tomb
guarding the entrance to the world of the dead. In front 6f this vault

3 another monument: a great marble book lies open on a marble pillow

-th tasselled corners, upon a marble pulpit (photo 20). On the pages
of the book are inscribed a memorial to Henry Burden and his wife,
Helen. Mr. Burden founded the Troy Iron Works which can be seen across
the river from this site while standing before the marble book. Even
in death, Mr. Burden keeps a cautious eye on his business interests.
Another striking tomb is the Romanesque Revival vault of the McCoy
family (photo 21), which is also built into the hillside but which
is much less elaborate than the Burden vault.

The sarcophagus monument is another type of memorial found in the
cemetery. The Archibald McIntyre tomb (photo 22) is a coffin-1like
structure raised on a high base and decorated with floral motifs.

The marker for Erastus Dow Palmer (photo 23) is a massive
Necoclassical sarcophagus reminiscent of Roman examples. Designed by’ ¥ -eioe
Marcus Reynolds, the Albany architect, the monument contains two ]
marble bas reliefs designed by Palmer (photo 24).

Al

The sarcophagus motif igs also used at the grave of Chester A.
Arthur (photo 25). The polished granite marker is in the shape of a
coffin. A bronze angel, larger than lifesize, stands beside it resting
her arm along the 1lid and holding a palm branch.

Celtic crosses are not uncommon markers (photo 26). Some of them
are tall and elaborately carved. Draped urns oY slabs, dencting a
~anancholy air, are also frequent (photos 27 and 28).
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The various revival styles of architecture are found among the
memorials: Gothic (photos 29 and 30), Greek (photo 31), and Egyptian,
(photos 32 and 33).

The rich and the poor, the proud and the modest, the well-known
and the long-forgotten, the loved, the cherished, and, presumably
the hated are all committed here. The Victorian way of death was an
elaborate and sentimental one. The strong sentimentality and
architectural symbolism profoundly influenced the manner in which
the dead were remembered. Death was tc the Victorians a publicly iy
displayed reality. The newer graves in the cemetery are generally
marked with simple stones and the twentieth-century lots are generally
smaller as families have gotten smaller and more mobile. Perhaps
our feelings are the same as those of our ancestors in the nineteenth
century, but they are not relieved in the same fashion since we do
not share them publicly to any great degree.

Among the most poignant graves in the cemetery are those of the
babies and children of which there are many. A low slab with a deeply
carved lily (photo 34) marks the grave of Mary S. Hastings who died
in 1875. The stone is inscribed "Aged 9 Months and 8 Days" and "Of Such
is the XKingdom of Heaven." Two children of the Alexander family are
commemorated by a small stone carved with high relief Gothic arches and
topped by twin lambs, their heads nestled together (photo 35). Within
the arches are the. inscriptions "Libbie" and "Ira." A rose-topped
slab remembers "Sarah and Her Little Clarence" (photo 36). One of the
most beautiful of the graves is that of James and John Strong. A
delicate sleeping lamb carved by Erastus Dow Palmer marks this grave
(dhoto 37). Tiny Henry V. Heck has a monument consisting of a high
pedestal on which stands the statue of a waking child-angel gazing
down (photo 38). His sad dates are given: "1911-1911."

Among the most richly 'sentimental of the markers are those for the
Clark family (photo 39). Two elaborate stones using the motif of a
cut tree trunk and a cross mark the graves of "Mother" and "Father."
The three children are commemorated by a tiny sleeping eherub on a
pedestal, a cross with flowers, and a small urn topped by flowers and
a dove (photo 40). The design of an urn with flowers and a dove was
a common one and is an example of mass procduced grave markers.
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The earliest sculpture by Erastus Dow Palmer in the cemetery is that
on an Olcott grave. This marble bas relief depicts a mother rising to
meet her dead babies in heaven (photso 41).

R.E. Launitz, the New York sculptor, was commissioned to do the stone
marking the grave of Margaret Gregory. It is an elaborate slab curved
with flowers and vines (photo 42).

Obelisks were, of course, Egyptian Revival in style and are common
throughout the cemetery. The most unusual one is the markex of O.
Hall (photo 43) which has four umbrella-like p¥ojections at the tips
of which or¥iginally hung small bells. It was thought by the author of
The Albany Rural Cemetery (written in 1893) to be exceedingly tasteless.
A small statue of a lamb nestles beneath the name of the deceased,
(photo 44).

The symbolism of the marker for Hettie Ten Eyck, a young woman,
is typical of the spirit of the Victorian Age. Atop a marble slab
carved in the shape of a rock is an anchor, a cross, and entwining
flowers (photo 45).

The Veterans' graves (photo 46) are marked by small, plain,
slightly round-topped markers and they share a large monument on which
stands a Civil War soldier leaning on his rifle.

Victorian symbolism can be seen also in the large Wilson monument
(photo 47) with inverted torches flanking a relief of a Grecian lady.
The Neoclassical cornice is topped by a cross on a garlanded pedestal.

Many tombs are marked with statues of angels or mourning figures
fregquently dressed in Grecian garb. Examples are the small walking - i
angel on Bessie van Schaick's monument, (photo 48), the seated woman
with downcast eyes holding a wreath on the Kibbe monument near Cypress
Water (photo 49), the Boulware/Richardson monument of a seated woman
who rests her chin in her hand in contemplative fashion (photo 50).

(The inscription reads, "I remember the days of old, I meditate on

all thy works") Other examples are the Hasey angel with trumpet

(photo 51), the Wooster man who points his hand towards heaven (photo 52),
the kneeling Monteath mourner with a wrcath (photo 53), the tall

column of the Pitkin family with standing mourner (photo 54), and the massive
Lathrop monument with a much larger than lifesize Grecian statue atop
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it (photo 55). Most famous of all the statues in the cemetery is the
Angel of the Sepulcher carved by Erastus Dow Palmer (photo 56) in memory of
the wife of Robert Lenox Banks. "Why seek ye the living ameong the

dead?" is the unusual inscription along the base.

Later monuments from the turn of the century are frequently
elaborate. The Glazier monument (photos 57 and 58) to a soldier
is a rough-hewn rock sensitively carved with a furled flag and
soldiers accouterments. The bronze relief on the Hilton mausoleum
(photo 59) has its roots in Grecian prototypes: an angel presents
herself before the seated deceased. The Tebbutt family plot
with its simpler individual markers (photo 60) is typical of more
recent styles.

While the grounds of this cemetery are carefully cared for, many
f the monuments have not aged well and are in need of work.
xposure to the elements has taken its toll and much restoration
work is needed.
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8. Significance 3

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below ‘ -

—— prehistoric  ___ archeology-prehistoric ____. community planning x _ landscape architecture ____ religion

— 1400-1488 ___ archeology-historic — conservation — law —_science

——1500-1599 __ agriculture — economics — literature = o sculplyre
—1600-1699 _X__ architecture — education — military X — social i

——1700-1799 ___art — engineering —  music humanitarian

1800-1899 ___ commerce — exploratiorvsettlement ____ philosophy — theater .
— 1900- ____ communications __ _industry — politics'government  _ transportation
—___invention X _ other (specity)
decorative art
Specific dates 1844 Builder/Architect Major B.B. Douglass

Statement of Signilicance (in one paragraph)

The rural cemetery movement in America began in Cambridge,
Massachusetts in 1831 with the design of the Mount Aubu¥n Cemetery.
It gained its impetus from the happy convergence of three forces: The
Romantic movement in literature and art, an increased interest in
horticulture and landscaping and the Poor, overcrowded conditions of many
graveyards within city limits where land was limited. Thus was torn the
need for both a pastoral setting and a decent burial site: the rural
cemetery. Albany Rural Cemetery founded in 1844 is an early example in
the movement following Greenwood Cemetery in New York City by only four
years, and Mount Auburn in Cambridge, the earliest rural cemetery in
America by thirteen years. It is significant as a fine example of
this type of cemetery which rapidly became popular throughout the East
and Midwest. The Victorian approach to death was a sentimental one.
Many of the monuments employ symbols which spoke eloquently to the
Victorians: crosses, anchors, draped urns, mourning figures, tree stumps,
small Grecian temples,; all were regarded as suitable memorials to the
dead. The irregular landscaping, the winding roads, lakes and picturesque
vistas all bespoke a sense of sylvan placidity to our Victorian ancestors,
marking a fit place for the dead to repose and for the living to wander.
The rural cemetery provided pPeople in the nineteenth century with an
easily viewable collection of American sculpture: a kind of outdoor
sculpture museum.

The Albany Rural Cemetery contains records in stone of the feelings
and attitudes about death as expressed by relatives of the deceased and
by the craftsmen who created the memorials. These feelings are expressed
in the design of the memorials, the materials, size, lettering, and
Choice of words that are used to remember the dead, as well as by tha
pastoral setting. The cemetery reflects changing tastes and attitudes
about death from 1844, when it was founded, until the Present day. It
contains a fine collection of nineteenth and twentieth Century mortuary
art which reflects the changes in decorative art taste Quring that period.
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9. Major Bibliographical References

Mount Auburn Cemetery. Cambridge, Massachusetts. National Registeyr
nomination, 1975.
~ Phelps, Henry P. The Albany Rural Cemetery. Albany: Phelps and
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10. Geographical Data
Acreage of nominated property ____ 467

Quadrangle name __Txoy South Quadrangle scale __1:24,000
UMT References See Continuation Sheet
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Verbal boundary description and justification

See Continuation Sheet

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

namefitle £y abeth Spencexr-Ralph, Program Assistant
. Division for .
organization Historic Preservation date 7/17/79
Street & number agency Building #1 telephone 518-474-0479
city or town Albany state New York

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

— natlonal X _ state ____local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Pr
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and ¢

according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the Heri ge Clnservatiorha
State Historic Preservation Officer signature |
Director, Historic Preservation Field\Services
title Bureau date /0 7 ?
L]

For HCRS use only
| hereby certify that this property is included in the National Register

ervation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
{fy that it has been evaluated
Recrkation Service,

date

Keeper of the National Register

Attest: date
Chief of Reglstration

GPO 938 83%
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UTM References
Albany Rural Cesmetery
Menands, Albany County
(zone 18)
Easting Northing Easting Northing
A. 604320 4729600 N. 603500 4728160
B 604420 4729240 O. 603380 4727850 Bcases
€s 604400 4729140 P. 603040 4728100
D. 604500 4729100 Q. 603090 4728350
E. 604480 4729040 R. 603010 4728380
F. 604640 4728950 S. 602580 4729160
G. 604500 4728520 T. 603560 4729100
H. 604420 4728560 U. 603560 4729220
T 604400 4728660 V. 603360 4729300
J. 604080 4728740 W. 603360 4729340
K. 603900 4728420 X. 602560 4725320
L.. 603660 4728500 ¥ 602990 4729600
M

603580 4728140

Verbal Boundary Description

Roughly bounded on the north by Spring Street; on the east by
an irregular line between Spring Street and the Delaware and
Hudson railroad track, the railroad track; on the south by

an irregular line bounding St. Agnes Cemetery, Menands Road;

on the west by Schuyler Road and an irregular line bounding

Beth Emmeth Ccmetery, Schuyler Road to Spring Street. BT




Albany Rural Cemetery
Menands, Albany Co.
UTM Referemnces (zone 18)

Easting Northing
A, 604320 4729600
B. 604420 4729240
Ce 604400 4729140
D, 604500 4729100
E. 604480 4729040
By 604640 4728950
G. 604500 4728520
H. 604420 4728560
s 604400 4728660
(s 18 604080 4728740
K. 603900 4728420
L. 603660 4728500
M. 603580 4728140
N. 603500 4728160
O. 603380 4727850
P, 603040 4728100
Q. 603090 ‘4728350
R. 603010 4728380
S. 602580 4729160
Te 603560 47291q0
U. 6035AN 472922q
v. 603360 4729300
W. 603360 4729340
X. 602560 4729320
Y. 602990 4729600

TRoY SouTH QuAp

}

<
o]

/4';:# :; \J} N /. J/ / /@rﬁ
:\/’,—/T Golf Course .." h ./ S T I f '% /// =

- -x H \

A F—= A
= | ALBANY L
1 -
‘ \, RURAL CEMETER
| 3 .

Campbell
N - A K
St Agnas
Cemietery

g o

//
//“r—‘uh:vision

.
o
87" Tower

ALBANY |o

Course _

(r1 Jo gy abey)




41!.4.
7 10 \
-1\1... S—
9
| Fm\\\—\l..n‘.-n;v- e w:
[100° AN V) e =
(+]
o
A .
- ™
TTe| 4 B.JERMAIN “@Ino
! " olg -~
(s -] E={
Eacye o HA .
n = N ~ o
w < o
« 0
> 0 +~
N B
JAMES  GAZELEY § phle
+ H O
o -]
E R
0 = gle
0 o [m
~ 0
w“ n u
0 2~ oy
' 1.ne
[+N Q
rdon adTE Ky L S 3
=z A
>
W
-
w
N
<
(L
")
-
b
<
-

1
g™ ]
VeEvenoneen 4

ST. AGNES T CEMETER'Y

P S

moaD

~dre

Albany Rural Cemetery
Menands, Albany County

(71 o p1 abeg)




Albany Rural Cemetery

Menands,

Onowx
e o« o o

ExRxuUHTmoOmE
-

TOWo=Zx=
(T 5 e Tl

Albany Co.
UTM Referemces (zone 18)
Easting Northing
604320 4729600
€04420 4729240
604400 4729140
604500 4729100
604480 4729040
604640 4728950
604500 4728520
604420 4728560
604400 4728660
604080 4728740
603900 4728420
603660 4728500
603580 4728140
603500 4728160
603380 4727850
603040 4728100
603090 ‘' 4728350
603010 4728380
602580 4729160
603560 4729100
6N35AN 472922a
603360 4729300
603360 4729340
602560 4729320
602990 4729600

KXITg duw

TRoY SouTH QuAp

}

~

-

| byg  SPRING - O
o~ 2 _ Y
5 X sy A
ANER  *  Lane
‘*w*-“ﬁ?s\ .

ALBANY |©

\ I
"\ RURAL

/ -

S
(¥1 Jo g1 abed)

(

e N e

ALBANY \\H

CEMETER

St Agnes
Cermietery

/ Menands /
/‘ P /




& N rrqromar

ANSHE| EMETR
CIMETERY

\

A9

enuncn SRoURe®

ST. AGNES 7 CEMETERY

(-}
o
el .
o ™
@l -
> 0
. VS~
E glm
o ®Hla .
N - o
“ < o
. o]
N 90
JAMES GAZELEY o Falal V]
+ MO
o -]
E (R
v =Eglg
0 o |
<0
“ n u
o Q|
— o
(=1} QO N0
g a9
z e
>
"
-
w
N
<
o
w
-
3
<
-
!
ﬂa
Va
e
aﬂ”
¥ e
3

Albany Rural Cemetery
Menands, Albany County

(¥ o ¥\ abed)




